RECEIVED

Jul 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County

Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF ROBERT BRIAN SHARP,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000553

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this sexually violent predator (SVP) case, did the trial court abuse its discretion by admitting evidence through the state's expert witness concerning Appellant's results from the penile plethysmograph (PPG) he underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 13, 2022, the Attorney General filed a petition seeking to involuntarily commit Appellant pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA). The trial commenced on February 26, 2024, before the Honorable Bentley Price, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Attorney General James Fisher represented the state. Ralph Wilson, Sr. represented Appellant. R. 1.

On February 28, 2024, the jury found Appellant was a sexually violent predator pursuant to the SVPA. R. 403, ll. 16-20. Judge Price ordered Appellant be committed to the Department of Mental Health for long term control, care, and treatment. R. 404, ll. 10-11; R. 582-584.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant pled guilty in 2013 to first degree assault and battery. He was sentenced to ten years suspended upon the service of three years' imprisonment and five years' probation. In 2019, Appellant pled guilty to two counts of criminal solicitation of a minor and indecent exposure. He was sentenced to ten years' imprisonment for each count of criminal solicitation of a minor and three years' imprisonment for indecent exposure. R. 518-541.

Before Appellant's anticipated release from the Department of Corrections, the state filed a petition pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA) seeking to involuntarily commit Appellant for long term control, care, and treatment. Dr. Marie Gehle, the chief psychologist with the Department of Mental Health, was court appointed to evaluate Appellant. Dr. Gehle opined that Appellant did not meet the criteria to be committed as a sexually violent predator. She determined Appellant did not have a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him likely to commit acts of sexual violence if not confined. R. 303, ll. 2-6. Dr. Gehle determined there was insufficient evidence to diagnose Appellant with pedophilic disorder or exhibitionism disorder. R. 287, l. 4 – 296, l. 20.

The state sought a second opinion from the Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab of the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC). Dr. Emily Gottfried, the director of the lab, evaluated Appellant and opined Appellant met the criteria to be committed as a sexually violent predator. R. 225, l. 25 – 226, l. 8. Unlike Dr. Gehle, Dr. Gottfried diagnosed Appellant with pedophilic disorder and exhibitionism disorder. R. 209, ll. 2-7. She opined Appellant has a propensity to engage in sexually violent acts in the future if he does not receive treatment in order to control his behaviors. R. 225, l. 25 – 226, l. 8.

As a part of her precommitment evaluation, Dr. Gottfried performed a penile plethysmograph (PPG) on Appellant. Appellant moved pretrial to suppress any evidence that he underwent a PPG examination and the results and conclusions derived therefrom. In a written motion, Appellant argued the evidence does not meet the requirements of admissibility of scientific evidence pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE, State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010). R. 542-545. Specifically, Appellant asserted the evidence was unreliable. He emphasized that there is a lack of standardization of stimulus sets used by various testing sites and in the interpretation of results. R. 542-545. He further asserted that there are no peer reviewed studies that validate the Real Child Voices or Marshall stimulus sets that Dr. Gottfried employed. Moreover, Appellant argued “there are no peer reviewed studies showing the effectiveness of these stimulus sets in discriminating sexual responses by men charged with pedophilic sex crimes with those men with no known sex offense histories or paraphilic interests.” R. 542-545.

In support of his motion to suppress any and all PPG evidence, Appellant cited to numerous cases where various courts across the country have held that PPG evidence is inadmissible because the PPG has not been shown to be reliable. See R. 546-549, *citing* State v. Spencer, 459 S.E.2d 812 (N.C. Ct. App. 1995) (highlighting a number of problems regarding the reliability of PPG testing, specifically the “lack of standards for training and interpretation of data, lack of norms and standardization and susceptibility of the data to false negatives and false positives.”); United States v. Medina, 779 F.3d 55, 65 (1st Cir. 2015) (discussing the problems with reliability of PPG testing where such testing was imposed as a condition of supervised release); Doe ex rel. Rudy-Glanzer v. Glanzer, 232 F.3d 1258, 1266 (9th Cir. 2000) (“In fact, courts are uniform in their assertion that the results of PPG are inadmissible as evidence because

there are no accepted standards for this test in the scientific community.”); Gentry v. State, 443 S.E.2d 667, 669 (Ga. Ct. App. 1994) (“Given the rejection of PPG evidence by other states, particularly the uncertainty within the scientific community of its reliability, we hold that it is inadmissible in Georgia.”); Leftwich v. State, 538 S.E.2d 779, 781 (Ga. Ct. App. 2000) (holding defendant could not use PPG results to show he was not a pedophile because PPG was not shown to be reliable).

In addition to the written motions, defense counsel moved before the judge pretrial to suppress any evidence related to the PPG. Counsel again argued the PPG is unreliable and there is no “real scientific basis” for the test. He emphasized that “there is no standardization of this test across the country. There’s not even standardization of the test within South Carolina.” R. 36, l. 4 – 39, l. 14. Counsel also cited to this Court’s unpublished opinion In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Ronald MJ Gregg, 2022-UP-336 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 10, 2022), where this Court held the trial court abused its discretion by admitting PPG test results because there was no evidence the Limestone certification standards, MUSC’s PPG procedures, or the Real Child Voices stimulus set “had been subject to peer review and/or found to be reliable.” R. 36, l. 24 – 37, l. 7.

In response to Appellant’s motion, the state proffered Dr. Gottfried’s testimony.¹ Dr. Gottfried conceded that there is a lack of standardization in the stimulus sets used by PPG examiners. Most of the countries that use the PPG, like Canada, can show some aspect of child pornography. However, in the United States, there is no medical exception to the federal child pornography laws so the stimulus sets cannot contain child pornography. In addition to the

¹ Dr. Gottfried was not qualified as an expert during the *in camera* hearing. However, before the jury, Dr. Gottfried was qualified as an expert in “precommitment sexual violent predator cases” and in “the use of the PPG” subject to Appellant’s “previous objections.” R. 168, ll. 8-13; R. 173, ll. 20-22.

stimulus sets, Dr. Gottfried admitted there is a lack of standardization in the scoring. Different examiners use different “cut scores” which determine “what makes the test clinically significant or positive or negative.” In Canada, for example, examiners use a much less conservative cut score to measure arousal. In the United States, examiners use a cut score of five millimeters of change to the circumference of the penis, while in Canada, examiners use a cut score of one millimeter of change. R. 79, l. 11 – 80, l. 23.

Dr. Gottfried is currently a member of an international standardization group, which is attempting to develop standards “so that the various countries and jurisdictions are more uniform” in their use and interpretation of the PPG. However, she admitted that other examiners are “really reluctant” to “change their methods.” R. 57, l. 7 – 58, l. 25.

Dr. Gottfried maintained that there was a large meta-analysis study published in 2019 on the validity of the PPG. A meta-analysis is “when you take the results of lots of studies and you put them together and do statistical analyses in a specialized way.” She maintained that the study “demonstrated that penile plethysmography can reliably discriminate between men who have sexual interests for children versus men who do not.” R. 67, l. 6 – 68, l. 11.

Dr. Gottfried explained that MUSC’s Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab has both a research certification and a clinical certification through Limestone Technologies, which is merely the company that manufactures the PPG hardware and software. This means the SBCL does “everything standardly” according to Limestone. R. 70, ll. 5-24.

When prompted by the assistant attorney general, Dr. Gottfried discussed the DSM-5-TR, which is the manual used by psychologists and psychiatrists to diagnose mental illness. The DSM-5-TR recognizes that the PPG “may sometimes be useful when an individual’s history suggests the possible presence of pedophilic disorder and the individual denies strong or

preferential attractions to children.” However, the manual emphasized that the “sensitivity and specificity of diagnosis may vary across sists, which frequently use different stimuli, procedures, and scoring.” R. 73, l. 19 – 74, l. 25; See R. 444-445.

Dr. Gottfried explained that the SBCL uses “countermeasures.” Essentially, the lab employs measures to prevent the examinee from cheating. The technician measures the examinee’s respirations and his movement. They also require the examinee to press a number on a keypad whenever the stimuli becomes sexual or violent to ensure the individual is paying attention. Lastly, the technician will ask the examinee to briefly describe the scenario he just heard to ensure he is paying attention. R. 85, l. 4 – 86, l. 17.

After Dr. Gottfried’s *in camera* testimony, the trial court took the matter under advisement. The following morning, the court ruled Dr. Gottfried’s testimony concerning the PPG Appellant underwent and the results and conclusions derived therefrom was admissible. Without being specific, the court reasoned that “the State has met its burden as to the doctor’s ability to testify as to the PPG.” R. 150, ll. 7-10.

In her testimony before the jury, Dr. Gottfried explained that the PPG “is a physiological test for measure of male sexual arousal.” She maintained it is “an *objective* measure looking at what a man is aroused by in the lab.” R. 169, ll. 11-14 (emphasis added). She testified that the PPG is important because “in cases like this, people are not necessarily going to be completely honest or forthcoming about what they’re aroused by.” A man is not going to admit he is “sexually aroused by really young children” so “we need an *objective* way to measure it [arousal] in the lab.” R. 170, l. 11 – 171, l. 3 (emphasis added). When further prompted by the assistant attorney general, Dr. Gottfried testified that she has found the PPG to be reliable and she uses the

PPG “because *it is the gold standard objective measure of looking at sexual arousal.*” R. 173, ll. 7-15 (emphasis added).

Dr. Gottfried told the jury Appellant “showed clinically significant sexual arousal to four of the trials on the PPG. So he showed clinically significant sexual arousal to two trials featuring consenting adult women. So that would be like a normal PPG reaction result. And then he also showed clinically significant arousal to one [trial] featuring a prepubescent child and then one trial featuring a pubescent . . . female.” R. 205, ll. 1-11. Dr. Gottfried then testified that she uses a “very conservative test score in order to minimize the risk of having any false positives.” R. 205, l. 12 – 206, l. 25.

Dr. Gottfried further claimed there was evidence Appellant was “trying to purposefully manipulate the test results.” She explained that “there were multiple trials where he was moving a lot, holding his breath, and that could be an attempt to try to prevent him from being aroused.” R. 207, ll. 1-21.

In his cross-examination of Appellant, the assistant attorney general misled the jury on the significance or meaning of Appellant’s PPG results. Specifically, the state’s attorney asked Appellant, “And you know that *you tested positive* for prepubescent pedophilia? You know that right?” Appellant responded, “Yes.” R. 345, ll. 2-5. Appellant did not “test positive for prepubescent pedophilia.” According to Dr. Gottfried, Appellant showed “clinically significant sexual arousal” to a trial involving a prepubescent child. Dr. Gottfried used this data to diagnose Appellant with pedophilic disorder. Her diagnosis was *subjective*. Notably, Dr. Gehle did not diagnose Appellant with pedophilic disorder. The assistant attorney general’s questioning improperly implied that the PPG was an objective, scientific test like a drug test and that there could be no false positives. For whatever reason, Appellant’s counsel did not object.

In his closing argument, the assistant attorney general emphasized the erroneously admitted PPG evidence. He argued Appellant “showed an increased *medically diagnosed, objective* increase, in sexual arousal to prepubescent girls and pubescent girls.” R. 368, ll. 3-5 (emphasis added).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the trial court’s sound discretion, and an appellate court may only disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 161-62, 851 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 2020), reh’g denied (Dec. 22, 2020) (quoting State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262-263, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 162, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

ARGUMENT

In this sexually violent predator (SVP) case, the trial court abused its discretion by admitting evidence through the state's expert witness concerning Appellant's results from the penile plethysmograph (PPG) he underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010).

The trial court abused its discretion by permitting Dr. Emily Gottfried, who was qualified as an expert in "precommitment sexual violent predator cases" and in "the use of the PPG," to testify about the PPG Appellant underwent and the results and conclusion derived therefrom since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010).

"The admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702, SCRE, which provides: If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

"Expert testimony receives additional scrutiny relative to other evidentiary decisions. Specifically, in executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court *must* make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular

subject matter. Finally, *the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.* Id. (emphasis added) (internal citation marks omitted).

To determine reliability, the trial court should apply the factors outlined by our Supreme Court in State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E.2d 120, 124 (1979), including: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). Further, if the evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial court should determine if its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Id. (citing Rule 403, SCRE).

In Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020), this Court addressed a narrow issue regarding the admissibility of PPG test results through an expert who did not administer or observe the PPG testing nor review the test's raw data. This Court held that "due process does not allow a testifying expert to be a pipeline for someone else's scientific work to be admitted into evidence without a baseline demonstration of reliability." Id. at 167, 851 S.E.2d at 446. It concluded the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting the PPG evidence and, finding the error was not harmless, remanded for a new commitment trial. Id. at 167, 851 S.E.2d at 447. In so holding, this Court emphasized that the PPG "test is controversial and has been criticized for a lack of standardization and for being subject to manipulation." Id. at 162, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (citing United States v. Rhodes, 552 F.3d 624, 626-627 (7th Cir. 2009) and United States v. Weber, 451 F.3d 552, 565 (9th Cir. 2006)). It noted that "with limited exceptions . . . courts have 'uniformly' declared that PPG test results are 'inadmissible as evidence because there are no accepted standards for this test in the scientific community.'" Id. at 162-163, 851

S.E.2d at 444 (quoting Doe ex rel. Rudy-Glanzer v. Glanzer, 232 F.3d 1258, 1266 (9th Cir. 2000)). This Court further emphasized that “some authorities take the position that the PPG has value in treating sex offenders but that concerns about reliability and a lack of uniform standards preclude its admission as evidence at trial.” Id. at 164, 851 S.E.2d at 445 (citing Commonwealth v. Ortiz, 93 Mass.App.Ct. 381, 100 N.E.3d 790, 796-797 (2018) (collecting cases)). Other “jurisdictions have held that an expert may rely on a PPG as a basis for the expert’s opinion but have expressly declined to consider whether the test results should be disclosed to the jury given the special weight the jury is likely to afford things that have the appearance of scientific evidence.” Id. at 164-165, 851 S.E.2d at 445 (citing In re Commitment of Sandry, 367 Ill.App.3d 949, 306 Ill.Dec. 202, 857 N.E.2d 295, 317 (2006)).

Subsequently, in Matter of Daily, 443 S.C. 557, 905 S.E.2d 310 (Ct. App. 2024), this Court held the PPG is not reliable as required by Rule 702, SCRE, and thus the trial court abused its discretion by admitting Daily’s PPG test results.² While recognizing that there may be contrary authority finding the PPG is reliable, this Court agreed with its earlier opinion in Matter of Bilton, which emphasized that the “test is controversial and has been criticized for a lack of standardization and for being subject to manipulation.” Id. at 564-65, 905 S.E.2d at 314.

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