RECEIVED

Aug 04 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County
The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2024-000553

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT
OF ROBERT BRIAN SHARP,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

CHRISTOPHER S. RUNYAN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104740

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Courts have also recognized the general acceptance and admissibility of the PPG test in sexually violent predator cases. In *In re Detention of Halgren*, 156 Wash. 2d, 132 P.3d 714 (2006), the Washington Supreme Court found PPG results were admissible as part of the diagnostic process, and the PPG testimony would assist the jury in understanding the expert’s sexual deviancy

diagnosis.⁶ *Id.* at 719. The court further found the issue of the PPG’s reliability goes to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility.⁷ *Id.*; see also *In re Detention of Herrick*, 198 Wash. App. 439, 393 P.3d 879, 885 (2017) (the PPG may provide critical information to an evaluator in determining if alleged sexual predator has a mental abnormality, and the PPG is an effective and generally accepted method for evaluating sex offenders).

The Illinois appellate court also found PPG evidence was admissible. See *In re Commitment of Sandry*, 367 Ill.App.3d 949, 857 N.E.2d 295, 316 (2006). As to the admissibility of a particular test or methodology, the court stated: “once it is determined that a methodology is generally accepted, it follows that it has achieved a sufficient degree of reliability and validity to cross the threshold of admissibility.” *Id.* at 309. The court then engaged in an exhaustive analysis of case law (use of PPG mentioned in at least 21 states, including South Carolina), statutes (eleven state statutes) and regulations, and discussed numerous academic articles that it determined provided ample support “to conclude that PPG testing is accepted by a substantial number of experts in this field such that it may be used to support a **qualitative assessment of the future dangerousness of an individual.**” *Id.* at 309-316 (emphasis added).

The *Bilton* court distinguished *Sandry* on the premise that “Illinois courts do not examine reliability before scientific evidence is admitted,” and did not even address all the case law and research articles discussed in *Sandry* that went directly to the issue of reliability. *Bilton*, 851 S.E.2d

⁶ Significantly, Washington’s sexual predator statute expressly gives the courts the discretion to order the person to comply with a PPG if requested by the evaluator. RCW §71.09.050(1). Thus, the Washington legislature recognized the PPG test is a valuable tool that should be available to evaluators if they believe it is necessary, and the Washington courts have found it to be reliable.

⁷ The *Bilton* court dismissed *Halgren* as distinguishable on the ground that the Washington court found the PPG was not novel and subject to the test for scientific evidence. This ignored the expressly stated reason for the Washington court’s finding, which was that the PPG had been analyzed in a previous case and found to be an effective method for assessing and treating sex offenders. *Halgren* at 719.

at 446. As with its dismissal of *Halgren*, however, the *Bilton* court's conclusion that Illinois courts do not examine reliability before scientific evidence is admitted ignored a very significant part of the *Sandry* opinion, which analyzed Illinois case law expressly stating “[t]he determination of the **reliability** of an expert's methodology is naturally subsumed by the inquiry into its general acceptance in the scientific community.” *Sandry*, 857 N.E.2d at 308 (quoting *Donaldson v. Central Illinois Public Service Co.*, 767 N.E.2d 314 [2002])(emphasis added). Thus, in examining whether the PPG is generally accepted in the scientific community, the *Sandry* court necessarily considered “reliability,” and its extensive discussion of evidence indicating the PPG is reliable and generally accepted is directly relevant here.⁸

Again, acknowledging some experts have criticized and rejected the PPG, the court noted the existence of contrary authority is not dispositive because those who accept it may still constitute a significant subset of experts in any given field. *Id.* at 316; *see also State v. Graham*, 275 Kan. 176, 183, 61 P.3d 662, 667 (2003) (some disagreement in the scientific and medical community as to the reliability of a particular test method is a matter affecting the weight of such evidence and not its admissibility; such evidence is admissible if a qualified expert witness testifies the particular test method is reliable and accurate, and it is generally accepted as such by other experts in the field).

Conversely, even scientific evidence, which is routinely accepted, such as DNA, is still challenged. The Supreme Court's reasoning in *Phillips* is on point with this case. Scientific evidence

⁸ The *Bilton* court also cited a concurring opinion in *United States v. Weber*, 451 F.3d 552 (9th Cir. 2006) for the proposition that the PPG test is “Orwellian when, **as here**, the State compels the subject to arouse himself sexually and then forces him to view deviant stimulants.” 851 S.E.2d at 444 (emphasis added). This statement implied that MUSC required *Bilton* to masturbate prior to the PPG, which was inaccurate. There was no evidence in *Bilton*, and there is no evidence in this case, that MUSC requires the person to “arouse himself sexually” before beginning the test. To the contrary, Dr. Gottfried expressly testified MUSC's protocols do not include any masturbation requirement and any such self-stimulation would invalidate the test. (R., pp. 86-87).

is not admitted “every time a party offers [scientific] evidence”. *Phillips*, 844 S.E.2d at 663. “Rather, if an objection is made, the trial court must hold a *Daubert/Council* hearing, the proponent of the evidence must present the factual and scientific basis necessary to satisfy the foundational elements of Rule 702.” *Id.* In this case, Judge Price, properly exercised his gatekeeping function and held the requisite pretrial hearing, and the State offered extensive testimony and documentary evidence to establish the scientific basis of PPG reliability.

In psychosexual behavior evaluations, the PPG provides data that is useful in determining an individual’s level of risk to commit acts of sexual aggression by measuring the extent to which the individual is dominated by sexual arousal to deviant stimuli, and predictions of risk to re-offend “are rendered much more accurate by the inclusion of data from this technique.” Howes, R. J., Measurement of Risk of Sexual Violence Through Phallometric Testing, *Legal Medicine* 11:368-369 (2009). “Although not universally embraced, there nonetheless remains **widespread acceptance and recognition of the value of phallometric assessment**,” and it “is certainly an assessment procedure which has come a long way since it was first devised.” Howes & Howes, *supra* (emphasis added). *See also* Tong, Dean, The Penile Plethysmograph, Abel Assessment for Sexual Interest, and MSI-II: Are They Speaking the Same Language?, 35 *Am. J. of Fam. Therapy*, 187, 190 (2007) (“The PPG, when administered properly, represents a **direct and objective** measurement of a man's level of sexual arousal to normal versus sexualized stimuli. Since there is a strong relationship between an individual's pattern of sexual arousal and the probability that he may or will act upon that arousal, an important first step in gauging one's **propensity** to sexual deviancy is to obtain an accurate assessment of that person's sexual arousal patterns, which is precisely what the PPG does.”) (emphasis added); Peters, James M., Assessment and Treatment of

Sex Offenders: What Attorneys Need to Know, Advocate, 23 (Dec. 1999) (the PPG “is invaluable in the **evaluation**, treatment and management of known sexual offenders.”) (emphasis added).⁹

Judge Price acted within the discretion granted to trial courts and his ruling regarding admissibility of evidence regarding Appellant’s PPG results is amply supported by the record. *See Wallace*, 892 S.E.2d at 312 (trial court’s ruling will not be reversed unless the court failed to act within the discretion granted to trial courts). Indeed, rather than even attempting to show Judge Price’s ruling is not supported by the extensive evidence presented, Appellant relies on mere conclusory assertions that the PPG is unreliable. Dr. Gottfried considered the PPG results as a single data point in a multi-faceted psychosexual evaluation, and without focusing on the PPG results, she testified about all the tests and information she considered in reaching her opinions regarding Appellant’s paraphilic coercive disorder diagnosis and his risk to reoffend sexually if not confined for long term control, care and treatment.

Appellant essentially seeks a *de novo* review rather than the appropriate abuse of discretion standard of appellate review. Under the abuse of discretion standard, Judge Price’s ruling that the State met its burden to show the PPG is reliable and admissible is well supported by the undisputed evidence and should be affirmed.

Probative/Prejudice & Harmless Error

Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be

⁹ The ATSA Best Practice Guidelines were recently updated, and it states “[t]he presence of age-inappropriate and non-consensual arousal has consistently been found to be a significant risk factor for sexual recidivism,” and the PPG “may be useful to evaluate a client’s sexual arousal response, particularly if a client’s sexual offending history or offense dynamics are indicative of a high level of risk and there is concern about the reliability of client self-report.” ATSA Best Practice Guidelines for Men (6th ed), pp. 36-37.

without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is **substantially** outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added).

In addition to making an essentially conclusory argument that the PPG evidence was unreliable and inadmissible, Appellant appears to address a potential harmless error analysis by quoting portions of Dr. Gottfried’s PPG testimony and the State’s closing argument references to the PPG. As argued above, the PPG evidence was properly admitted. Therefore, because there was no error, the references to it in testimony and closing argument were appropriate and a harmless error analysis is not necessary.

Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *In re Care and Treatment of Harvey*, 355 S.C. 53, 584 S.E.2d 893, 897 (2003). “A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case,” and “the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined **from its relationship to the entire case.**” *State v. Heller*, 399 S.C. 157, 731 S.E.2d 312, 320 (Ct. App. 2012) (emphasis added).¹⁰ “It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.” *State v. McFarlane*, 279 S.C. 327, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983).

A “person’s dangerous propensities are the focus of the SVP Act.” *In re Care & Treatment of Ettel*, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *In re Care and Treatment of Corley*, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 [2003]). To the extent Appellant is making a veiled Rule

¹⁰ All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; only unfair prejudice must be scrutinized. *See State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 759 S.E.2d 160, 168 (Ct. App. 2014).

403 probative versus prejudice argument, which requires him to show that the prejudicial effect “substantially” outweighed the evidence’s probative value, his argument fails.

The State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant presently has a mental abnormality and/or personality disorder that makes him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined for long term control, care, and treatment. *See In re Care and Treatment of Taft*, 413 S.C. 16, 774 S.E.2d 462, 466 (2015) (the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the person is presently a sexually violent predator). As recognized in the numerous publications provided to Judge Price and cited above, the PPG is highly and directly probative and relevant to the diagnosis and risk assessment of male sex offenders. *See Tong, Dean, supra* (PPG is an important first step in gauging propensity to reoffend).

In light of the elements the State must prove under the SVPA, the probative value of the PPG results as part of Dr. Gottfried’s evaluation and opinion cannot be seriously challenged. The PPG results were a part of her diagnostic and risk analysis, and it was important for the jury to hear about everything she did and considered in reaching her conclusions regarding Appellant’s diagnoses and risk to reoffend.

The PPG results were no doubt prejudicial to Appellant, but they were consistent with, and no more prejudicial than, his history of sexually molesting young females and riding around neighborhoods looking for more victims. Thus, the prejudice to Appellant did not substantially outweigh the evidence’s probative value. *See Heller*, 731 S.E.2d at 320 (determination of prejudicial effect against probative value must be based on the entire record and turns on the facts of each case).

Appellant’s statements to Dr. Gottfried and the facts of his sex offenses provide ample proof that he has incredibly strong deviant sexual urges and has acted on them, he was unable to control these urges after being sanctioned and attending sex offender treatment, and he has the propensity

to commit future acts of sexual violence to such a degree that he is a danger to public safety unless confined for treatment. In short, there was overwhelming evidence to support Appellant is a sexually violent predator beyond a reasonable doubt.

Dr. Gottfried considered the PPG results as one data point in a multi-faceted evaluation that included extensive testing, review of Appellant's records and the DMH evaluation, and a clinical interview of Appellant during which she reviewed his personal history with him, as well as his sexual offenses and all the test results. The fact that the PPG was not the primary basis for Dr. Gottfried's opinion is supported by the fact that she did not stress the PPG results in any way during her testimony.

The vast majority of Dr. Gottfried's direct testimony was devoted to her credentials and evidence **other than the PPG**. That testimony included: the facts of Appellant's sex offenses against female children; the battery of psychological tests in her evaluation protocol; Appellant's results on those tests; Appellant's statements to her during the clinical interview; her diagnosis of pedophilic disorder, exclusive type, sexually aroused to female prepubescent children; the actuarial risk assessments she used and Appellant's level of risk according to those assessments; Appellant's dynamic risk factors for reoffending; Appellant's need for treatment and lack thereof; and her ultimate opinion that Appellant met the criteria for civil commitment under the SVPA.

Further, the State briefly referenced the PPG during closing argument as only one data point in Dr. Gottfried's comprehensive psychosexual evaluation of Appellant. (R., pp. 367-368). The State focused instead on the thoroughness of Dr. Gottfried's evaluation as compared to the DMH evaluator's evaluation, Appellant's offenses, the fact that both experts testified Appellant was in the

well above average to reoffend category, and the basis for the DMH evaluator's opinion that Appellant did not need to be confined for treatment.¹¹ (R., pp. 368-375).

Even if the PPG evidence was improperly admitted and the Court determines a harmless error analysis is necessary, which the State does not concede, there was overwhelming evidence presented (other than the PPG) to support the jury's verdict. Appellant's statements to Dr. Gottfried during the interview clearly established that he was unable to control his sexually deviant urges, even after sanction and sex offender treatment. After his Assault and Battery – First Degree conviction and incarceration, Appellant rode around neighborhoods until he saw a woman or a child, stopped ostensibly to get directions or show a picture of a dog, and he masturbated to the point of ejaculation while talking to them. He told Dr. Gottfried he did this to about six victims. When one of his minor victims went home and reported it to her parents, the father chased Appellant through the neighborhood at a high rate of speed and purportedly fired shots at him, but Appellant continued to masturbate in the car during the chase until he ejaculated.

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